THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO RICHLAND COUNTY  
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Hank E. Hawes, Petitioner

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent,

Appellate Case No. 2023-001759

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 04 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Adam Sinclair Ruffin  
SC Bar No. 101350  
1320 Main Street, Suite 300  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 470-5629  
adam@ruffinappeals.com  
Attorney for Petitioner

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective where they failed to consult with Petitioner about whether to petition this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision, or inform Petitioner of his right to file a pro se petition, where the Court of Appeals found that the trial court erred in allowing the admission of in-life photographs of the decedent but that the error was harmless?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner, Hank Hawes, was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury on October 5, 2011, for the murder of Jennifer Wilson. App. 1670. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., and a jury from October 6 – 16, 2014. App. 13. He was represented by Doug Strickler, Fielding Pringle, and Megan Eigenbrot. The State was represented by Dolly Garfield, Luck Campbell, and Foster Matthews. App. 13.

Petitioner and Wilson were in a romantic relationship which a neighbor described as “rocky,” and “off and on.” App. 262, ll. 4 – 9. On the night of Wilson’s death, Petitioner went to her house to end the relationship. App. 1061, ll. 7 – 14. The two got into an argument which turned physical, and Wilson attacked Petitioner with a knife. App. 1083, ll. 11 – 20. While Wilson was attacking Petitioner, he grabbed a knife and stabbed her.<sup>1</sup> App. 1083, l. 20 – 1085, l. 22.

After realizing Wilson was dead, Petitioner used the knife to cut his own wrists. App. 1086, ll. 4 – 20. Petitioner carried Wilson’s body to the bathroom to wash the blood off her and himself. App. 1101, ll. 7 – 16; app. 1104, ll. 3 – 12. Later that same morning, Petitioner contacted criminal defense attorney Jack Swerling to report what happened. Mr. Swerling in turn, with Petitioner’s permission, reported the incident to law enforcement. App. 214, l. 23 – 215, l. 13.

Petitioner’s trial lawyers argued for self-defense or, in the alternative, voluntary manslaughter. App. 1326, ll. 9 – 17; app. 1616, l. 4 – 1617, l. 18. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged and the court sentenced him to life imprisonment. App. 1389, ll. 12 – 17; app. 1400, l. 23 – 1401, l. 2.

---

<sup>1</sup> The pathologist who performed the autopsy on Wilson noted that she had twelve stab wounds, eleven slash wounds, and one bite mark. Her cause of death was blood loss from the stab wounds. App. 1001, ll. 8 – 22; app. 1005, l. 22 – 1006, l. 3.

Several gruesome photographs of Wilson at the crime scene were entered into evidence over objection. A video showing the crime scene—State’s Exhibit 398—which showed Wilson’s deceased and partially nude body was entered into evidence over objection. App. 616, l. 19 – 619, l. 6. Several autopsy photographs were entered into evidence and shown to the jury over objection. App. 903, l. 12 – 905, l. 23; app. 973, l. 14 – 974, l. 10. Finally, the trial court also admitted two pictures of Wilson while she was still alive at a birthday party prior to her death over the objection of Petitioner’s trial counsel. App. 348, l. 24 – 350, l. 5.

One attendee at the trial had such a visceral reaction to the graphic evidence that he had an outburst resulting in the judge sentencing him to six months in jail for contempt. App. 1176, ll. 16 – 22. The judge later reduced the man’s sentence to four days but banned him from entering the courthouse for the remainder of the trial. App. 1180, ll. 8 – 16. The man apologized and attributed his actions to the graphic evidence that was presented. App. 1181, ll. 2 – 5.

In its closing argument, the State showed a picture of Wilson while she was still alive juxtaposed with a picture of her deceased body which prompted some of the jurors to cry. App. 1383, l. 19 – 1385, l. 23. The solicitor showed the pictures to the jury while arguing, essentially, “this is how he found her; and this is how he left her.” App. 1364, l. 12 – 1365, l. 7; app. 1383, ll. 19 – 24.

On direct appeal, Petitioner was represented by Nicholas Charles and Matt Bogan of Nelson Mullins, and Robert Dudek of Appellate Defense. Specifically, Appellate Defense contracted Petitioner’s appeal out to Nelson Mullins. App. 1580, ll. 18 – 25. Matt Bogan filed the briefs on Petitioner’s behalf. App. 1403 – 1436; app. 1490 – 1506. Mr. Charles represented Petitioner at the oral argument. App. 1581, ll. 16 – 22.

Petitioner's appellate attorneys raised four issues in his direct appeal including whether the trial court erred in the admission of the gruesome photographic evidence of Wilson and the in-life photographs of her. App. 1417 – 1420. The Court of Appeals found that appellate counsel abandoned the objections to the crime scene video and the autopsy photographs. App. 1511. The Court found that appellate counsel failed to argue against the admissibility of the video and autopsy photographs in their opening brief, and they also failed to designate these exhibits or include them in the record on appeal. App. 1512. Having concluded that appellate counsel abandoned those arguments, the Court of Appeals did not consider them.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the introduction of the graphic crime scene photographs was not an abuse of discretion because the trial court correctly concluded that the probative value of the photographs outweighed their prejudicial effect. App. 1514. However, the Court of Appeals, relying on *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 515 S.E.2d 98 (1999), concluded that the admission of the in-life photographs taken of Wilson before she was killed was error. App. 1515. Finding the error harmless, the Court of Appeals affirmed. App. 1515. The Court of Appeals did not engage in any meaningful analysis of the extreme prejudice suffered by Petitioner due to the State juxtaposing the in-life photographs with the deceased photographs in its closing argument which caused some of the jurors to cry.

Petitioner and the State filed petitions for rehearing after the issuance of the Court of Appeals' opinion. App. 1526 – 1539. In their petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeals, appellate counsel did not ask the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision about whether they abandoned the objections made to the crime scene video and autopsy photographs but instead simply stated they disputed that finding by the Court of Appeals in a footnote. App. 1527, fn. 1. Petitioner's appellate counsel did however persuasively argue that the Court of Appeals failed to

analyze the very real prejudice inflicted on Petitioner by way of the juxtaposition of the in-life photographs with the deceased photographs. App. 1526 – 1530. The Court of Appeals denied both petitions for rehearing. App. 1540. Neither Petitioner nor the State filed a petition for a writ of certiorari with this Court.

Petitioner filed his PCR application on March 6, 2019. App. 1542 – 1549. The State filed its Return on June 10, 2019. App. 1550 – 1561. Petitioner was appointed PCR Counsel, Jonathan Waller, who filed an amended PCR application on July 19, 2023. App. 1562. In the amended PCR application, Petitioner made claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for their failure to petition this Court for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals decision and for failing to inform Petitioner of his right to seek such review.<sup>2</sup> App. 1562.

An evidentiary hearing was held on July 19, 2023, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. App. 1575. Petitioner was represented by Jonathan Waller and the State was represented by Russ Barlow. App. 1575. Petitioner, Nicholas Charles, and Fielding Pringle all testified at the hearing. App. 1576.

Mr. Charles testified that, during his time at Nelson Mullins, Petitioner’s appeal “was the only one that [he] had primary responsibility for handling.” App. 1580, ll. 6 – 17. Nelson Mullins had a relationship with Appellate Defense where attorneys at Nelson Mullins would handle some of Appellate Defense’s appeals. App. 1580, ll. 18 – 25. Mr. Charles explained that this was why Robert Dudek was listed on all the court filings even though his involvement with the appeal was “minimal.” App. 1581, ll. 2 – 8. Mr. Charles believed that communication with the client regarding the appeal remained the responsibility of Appellate Defense. App. 1581, ll. 9 – 15.

---

<sup>2</sup> PCR Counsel did not raise the issue of whether appellate counsel was ineffective in abandoning the objections made to the crime scene video or autopsy photographs.

Despite having testified that he had primary responsibility of handling Petitioner's direct appeal, Mr. Charles indicated that he only became involved in Petitioner's appeal two weeks before the oral argument. App. 1581, ll. 16 – 22. Mr. Charles was not involved in drafting the initial briefs, final briefs, or compiling the record on appeal. App. 1581, l. 23 – 1582, l. 2.

After the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions, Mr. Charles filed a petition for rehearing because "[i]t's a prerequisite to file a cert petition." App. 1582, ll. 10 – 21. After the petition for rehearing was denied, Mr. Charles did not file a petition for certiorari. He testified: "I felt that we had won on the only winnable issue, which was the issue of photographs of the victim earlier in the night she was killed when she was at a birthday party. The Court of Appeals reversed the admission of those photographs, but held it was harmless error in light of the overwhelming evidence of Mr. Hawes' guilt." App. 1583, ll. 11 – 20. In reaching this decision, Mr. Charles testified that he consulted with both Mr. Bogan and Mr. Dudek but that he did not have any communication with Petitioner about it. App. 1584, l. 8 – 1585, l. 9. The PCR judge asked Mr. Charles if he believed he was required to consult Petitioner about filing a petition for certiorari to which Mr. Charles responded that he believed that was the responsibility of Appellate Defense. App. 1586, ll. 12 – 24.

The State filed a Return to Petitioner's amended PCR application after the PCR hearing with the judge's permission. App. 1563 – 1573. The State attached the closing letter sent to Petitioner by Robert Dudek. In the letter, Mr. Dudek enclosed a copy of the Court of Appeals' decision and wrote: "Your attorney, Matt Bogan, does not think certiorari is warranted and will be closing your case along with this letter." App. 1574. The letter went on to advise Petitioner that he had one year to file a PCR application. The letter did not advise Petitioner that he could pursue a petition for a writ of certiorari before filing a PCR application. App. 1574.

The PCR court denied Petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel finding that the closing letter explained to Petitioner that his attorneys would not file a petition for certiorari and further explained the PCR and habeas process. App. 1668. The Court also relied on *Douglas v. State*, 369 S.C. 213, 631 S.E.2d 542 (2006), *Wainwright v. Torna*, 455 U.S. 586 (1982), and *State v. Clinkscales*, 318 S.C. 513 (1995) in determining that Petitioner had no right to effective assistance of counsel in pursuing a petition for a writ of certiorari. App. 1668.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that appellate counsel was not ineffective because they failed to consult with Petitioner about whether to petition this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision, or inform Petitioner of his right to file a pro se petition, where the Court of Appeals found that the trial court erred in allowing the admission of in-life photographs of the decedent but that the error was harmless.

### **Requested Relief**

This Court should grant this petition to consider the question of whether an appellate attorney is ineffective when he fails to consult with his client about filing a petition for certiorari after receiving an unfavorable ruling in the Court of Appeals in his direct appeal, or fails to advise the client that he has a right to file such a petition on his own, even if appellate counsel decides that he will not seek certiorari on the client's behalf. This is an important and recurring issue in criminal appeals without a clear answer from this Court.

There is no question that trial counsel has a duty to consult a defendant about whether he wishes to appeal in at least two contexts: (1) when there is reason to think a rational defendant would want to appeal; and (2) the defendant has reasonably conveyed to counsel his desire to appeal. *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470 (2000). And while the Supreme Court in *Wainwright v. Torna*, 455 U.S. 586 (1982) rejected a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for the failure to *file* a discretionary appeal, this case presents this Court with a question similar to that in *Flores-Ortega* which remains unanswered in South Carolina—whether appellate counsel has a *duty to consult* a defendant about whether he wishes to seek discretionary review, and if the lawyer

and defendant disagree, whether appellate counsel has a *duty to advise* the defendant that he may seek discretionary review pro se.<sup>3</sup>

Both the bench and bar would benefit from this Court's instruction as to what duties, if any, are owed to clients by their appellate attorneys in seeking discretionary review and defining the exact moment at which an appellant in a criminal appeal ceases to be represented by appointed counsel and therefore permitted to file substantive pro se documents without violating the rule against hybrid representation.

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant him the opportunity to file a petition for a writ of certiorari to this Court for review of the Court of Appeals' decision in his direct appeal. *See Rolan v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 414, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009) (finding tailored relief to address the actual prejudice suffered is appropriate).

### **Argument**

In addition to having a constitutional right to assistance of counsel at trial, criminal defendants also have a constitutional right to assistance of counsel on appeal. *See Douglas v. California*, 372 U.S. 353, 357 (1963) (“where the merits of the one and only appeal an indigent has as of right are decided without benefit of counsel, we think an unconstitutional line has been drawn between rich and poor”). The Supreme Court was later asked to extend the holding of *Douglas* to require appointed counsel in discretionary appeals such as petitions for writs of certiorari to state supreme courts or petitions to the Supreme Court of the United States. In *Ross v. Moffitt*, 417 U.S. 600, 610-12 (1974), the Supreme Court declined to do so, instead holding that

---

<sup>3</sup> The Fourth Circuit answered this question in the negative in *Folkes v. Nelsen*, 34 F.4th 258 (4th Cir. 2022). However, this Court recently granted Folkes' petition for a writ of certiorari in its original jurisdiction to consider whether appellate counsel abandoned Folkes at a critical stage and oral argument is scheduled for September 11, 2024.

neither the Due Process Clause nor the Equal Protection Clause requires a state to provide a criminal defendant with appointed counsel in discretionary appeals.

Eleven years after the Supreme Court decided *Ross*, it extended its holding in *Douglas* to make clear that a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel on appeals as of right. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985) (“A first appeal as of right therefore is not adjudicated in accord with due process of law if the appellant does not have the effective assistance of an attorney”); *see also McCoy v. Ct. of Appeals of Wis.*, 486 U.S. 429, 436 (1988) (where “a convicted defendant elects to appeal, he retains the Sixth Amendment right to representation by competent counsel”).

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must show that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient,” meaning that it fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 668).

In *Folkes v. Nelsen*, 34 F.4th 258 (4th Cir. 2022), the Fourth Circuit considered whether Folkes’ appellate attorneys were ineffective for failing to file a petition for rehearing in the South Carolina Court of Appeals which deprived him of the ability to seek certiorari in this Court. The district court granted Folkes relief on a slightly different basis. The district court found that appellate counsel was ineffective for their failure to timely *advise* Folkes of the adverse decision by the Court of Appeals and of his right to seek further review.<sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 266.

In a split decision, the Fourth Circuit reversed, holding that “the Supreme Court has held that no ineffective assistance of counsel claim can arise based on conduct relating to discretionary, subsequent appeals.” *Id.* at 263. The majority opinion criticized the dissent for improperly drawing on principles that are applicable in the filing of an initial appeal and applying those principles to discretionary appeals. *Id.* at 272. The *Folkes* majority first concluded that there is no right to effective appellate counsel in the filing of a petition for rehearing or certiorari and therefore reasoned that there is also no duty on appellate counsel to consult with the defendant about seeking such discretionary review. *Id.* at 278.

The dissent in *Folkes* pointed out that “whether the duty to consult—in this case to notify and advise a defendant of an adverse appellate decision and his remaining recourses—constitutes part of a direct appeal or the first step of a discretionary appeal, remains an open and debated question.” *Id.* at 297 (Wynn, J. dissenting). Judge Wynn pointed to the Sixth Circuit’s decision in *Smith v. Ohio Dep’t of Rehab. & Corr.*, 463 F.3d 426, 432-33 (CA6 2006). In *Smith* the Sixth Circuit held appellate counsel’s failure to inform the defendant of the adverse decision on his direct appeal was an integral part of counsel’s representation at the direct appeal stage. “The court’s

---

<sup>4</sup> The district court also granted Folkes relief because he had been sent a closing letter that bore the forged signature of an attorney and contained several inaccurate statements about the procedural posture of his case. *Folkes*, 34 F.4th at 262-63.

ultimate decision regarding a particular legal proceeding is part of that legal proceeding, and appointed counsel's duties in representing a client during that legal proceeding include the duty of informing her client of the outcome of the proceeding." *Smith*, 463 F.3d at 432-33.

In relying on *Smith*, Judge Wynn wrote in his dissent that an appellate attorney's duty to his client "encompasses notifying a defendant of the outcome of a proceeding and advising the client about the existence of further appeals." *Folkes*, 34 F.4th at 298. Judge Wynn continued:

What sense does it make to equip an indigent defendant with counsel, who zealously pursues an appeal, only to leave him in the dark about the outcome? Or to only inform a defendant sitting in prison, facing a lifetime behind bars, of the outcome of his direct appeal so late that any further review is foreclosed? The constitutional right to appellate counsel must cover more than merely filing the briefs and allowing counsel to depart without a word. Otherwise, an indigent defendant has no meaningful recourse as we would effectively put the onus on criminal defendants to be ready to fend for themselves at all times, since if counsel withdraws without notice, it is the defendant whose rights are sacrificed.

*Id.* at 300-01.

This Court has made clear that there is no duty on appellate counsel to file a petition for rehearing or to file a petition for a writ of certiorari in a direct criminal appeal. *Douglas v. State*, 369 S.C. 213, 631 S.E.2d 542 (2006). However, undersigned counsel respectfully submits to this Court that appellate attorneys have, at a minimum, a duty to consult with their clients about filing a petition for a writ of certiorari after an adverse decision by an intermediate appellate court. And even if the appellate attorney has decided in his own professional judgment that a petition is not warranted and that he will not file a petition on his client's behalf, he has a duty to advise his client that the client may continue to pursue the appeal pro se, or with retained counsel.

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