RECEIVED

Feb 21 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Richland County
Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Trial Judge
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001759

Hank E. Hawes, #361739,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The hospital examination for Petitioner, as discussed above, noted only his self-inflicted wounds. While in custody, officers found only one small mark on one of Petitioner's fingers. (App.

p. 646, l. 5 – p. 647, l. 20; p. 33 [State's Exhibits 297, 298, 300, 301, 302, 303, and 304]; see also p. 1162, ll. 9–17).

Petitioner opted to testify in his defense that the Victim was the aggressor, and though he remembered little else, it was clearly her fault. (See App. p. 1077, l. 10 – p. 1086, l. 9; p. 1162, l. 20 – p. 1163, l. 1). The cross-examination uncovered a series of implausible assertions by Petitioner when considering the forensic evidence and other testimony. For example, Petitioner claimed the Victim had a large knife, but no large knife was found. Petitioner claimed his shirt "may have been damaged" during the fight, and buttons were pulled off, but no buttons were found. Petitioner claimed she had on a top at the time of the violence, but no top was recovered with any stab wound tears. Petitioner had collected his blood in an insulated bag not to get it on the carpet, and yet his blood was on the scene. (See App. p. 1114, l. 20 – p. 1162, l. 24).

In addition to her neighbor, Mr. Smith, several friends testified to the rocky relationship the Victim shared with Petitioner and the fact that she was frightened. The Victim's friend, Janelle Bonder (Ms. Bonder), testified that she knew about the relationship starting in February 2011. Ms. Bonder further testified that she saw a change in her friend. The Victim had become anxious, her health seemed to be poor, and "she had been terrified" during the months before her murder. The Victim demonstrated this during a SKYPE call when Petitioner "arrived at the house," and she became upset. (See App. p. 317, l. 11 – p. 319, l. 24).

At a dinner party at another friend's home on August 14, 2011, that friend, David Virtue (Mr. Virtue), testified the two were together but "seldom on the same side of the room or part of the house during that evening." Mr. Virtue also testified that the Victim had confided in him over the summer that she was attempting to withdraw from Petitioner and end the relationship. (App. p. 328, l. 18 – p. 331, l. 2).

The Victim had remained friends with a former boyfriend, Drew Kabbe (Mr. Kabbe), and they communicated pretty frequently. Mr. Kabbe testified that he spoke to her the night of August 27, 2011/early morning of August 28, 2011. The Victim was in a good mood and happy after returning home from a birthday party. However, the Victim had previously told Mr. Kabbe about Petitioner, though they usually did not, by agreement, discuss their romantic relationships. The Victim told Mr. Kabbe "[s]he was frightened of him." Mr. Kabbe heard her arrive safely home the night of the party before their telephone conversation ended. (App. p. 374, l. 14 – p. 377, l. 15).

Other friends testified, consistent with his testimony that on the night before the early morning hour murder, the Victim attended two birthday parties and appeared to be in a happy mood, enjoying herself. (See App. p. 344, l. 12 – p. 347, l. 18; p. 354, ll. 1–7).

Another friend, Tasha Laman (Ms. Laman), also heard the Victim express and/or demonstrate distress over the relationship. Ms. Laman advised the Victim to go to a counselor. (App. p. 485, l. 15 – p. 488, l. 4). Ms. Laman also testified that the Victim had confided that Petitioner had threatened to "ruin her life." (App. p. 500, l. 23 – p. 501, l. 1; p. 511, ll. 5–18). Ms. Laman, like Ms. Bonder, similarly noticed a loss of weight and anxiousness in the Victim. (App. p. 501, ll. 9–19). Ms. Laman testified that the Victim went to counseling and couples counseling on at least one occasion. (App. p. 514, ll. 7–12). Ms. Laman testified that the Victim "was very nervous after talking with Ms. Stewart and Ms. Stewart telling her this was a classic case of domestic violence," and, further, that the Victim intended to break the relationship with Petitioner. (App. p. 513, ll. 1–7).

The Victim's counselor, Jamme Stewart (Ms. Stewart), testified that she was very concerned about a new relationship that quickly turned to "constant contact" and that Petitioner had "threatened to expose something embarrassing about her" should she break the relationship.

(App. p. 521, ll. 8–14). Ms. Stewart responded that she did have reservations about domestic violence. (App. p. 522, l. 25 – p. 523, l. 12). Ms. Stewart testified that the Victim did not want to stay in the relationship but had difficulty making the break. Ms. Stewart noted the Victim was concerned about Petitioner's constant contact and jealousy. (App. p. 526, l. 12–24). The Victim was killed just four days later. (App. p. 527, ll. 13–17).

A series of text messages between Petitioner and the Victim showed a back-and-forth relationship, turning accusatory and threatening toward the Victim. (See, for example, App. p. 806, l. 1 – p. 807, l. 25; p. 862, l. 25 – p. 863, l. 3). The Victim's messages reflect both a fear of him and her confusion about him. (See, for example, App. p. 806, l. 4 – p. 807, l. 10). The last call to the Victim from Petitioner was at 2:14 am. The next call was at 2:37 am to Ms. Newsom. (App. p. 718, ll. 7–23). The murder occurred in that brief time. (App. p. 268, l. 5 – p. 270, l. 1).

Petitioner's phone records also reflected contacts with multiple other women. (See App. p. 831, l. 3 – p. 850, l. 25; p. 866, l. 10 – p. 867, l. 25). In fact, Petitioner was planning to meet a woman matched to him through a dating website on August 28th, according to a text message sent on August 27th. (App. p. 1013, l. 20 – p. 1018, l. 7). Also, on the night of the murder, Petitioner was happy and outgoing and expressed that he was excited about "getting back together with his girlfriend." (App. p. 1025, l. 3 – p. 1028, l. 7).

In sum, the jury was asked to consider the varied stories and a variety of evidence. As noted above, after due consideration, the jury found Petitioner guilty of murder.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief depends on the specific issue before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, the appellate courts defer to the post-conviction relief court's factual findings and will uphold them if any probative evidence in the record supports them. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the post-conviction relief court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective where Petitioner has no constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel when seeking discretionary appellate review.

On appeal, Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in finding appellate counsel was not ineffective where they failed to consult with Petitioner about whether to seek discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision. Specifically, Petitioner contends that 1) "appellate attorneys have, at a minimum, a duty to consult with their clients about filing a petition for a writ of certiorari after an adverse decision by an intermediate appellate court" and 2) "even if the appellate attorney has decided in his own professional judgment that a petition is not warranted and that he will not file a petition on his client's behalf, he has a duty to advise his client that the client may continue to pursue the appeal *pro se*, or with retained counsel." (PWC p. 12). However, the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective where Petitioner has no constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel when seeking discretionary appellate review. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 441, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). A defendant is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396-97 (1985) (citing Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353 (1963)). Generally, in analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the courts apply the Strickland test just as they would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel: an applicant must show that appellate counsel's performance was deficient and that he or she was prejudiced by the deficiency. Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009).

However, an individual has no constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel when seeking discretionary appellate review. Wainwright v. Torna, 455 U.S. 586, (1982) (holding there is no Sixth Amendment right to counsel in pursuing discretionary appeal); see also Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600 (1974) (finding there is no Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel when pursuing discretionary appeal after an appeal of right); State v. Clinkscales, 318 S.C. 513, 458 S.E.2d 548 (1995) (finding Sixth Amendment right to counsel "extends only to the first right of appeal"). This Court has explicitly held that appellate counsel has no duty "to pursue rehearing and/or certiorari following the decision of the Court of Appeals in a criminal direct appeal." Douglas v. State, 369 S.C. 213, 215-16, 631 S.E.2d 542, 543-44 (2006).

At the evidentiary hearing, appellate counsel testified that he made the strategic decision not to file a petition for writ of certiorari based on the win of one of the issues, and he also did not believe the remaining issues had merit. (App. pp. 1583–1584). Appellate counsel testified that it was standard practice to send a letter regarding the decision to a client; however, he could not remember if his firm or South Carolina Indigent Defense sent the letter. (App. pp. 1584–1585). On direct examination by the post-conviction relief court, appellate counsel testified that it was his decision not to file the petition. Petitioner also testified that he probably received some kind of notification but he did not recall if or when he did receive it. (App. pp. 1585–1586).

In its Order of Dismissal, the post-conviction relief court, citing Douglas, Wainwright, Moffitt, and Clinkscales, found appellate counsel had no duty to petition this Court for discretionary review and, more importantly, that Petitioner had no right to appellate review from this Court following his full and complete review by the Court of Appeals. (App. pp. 1667–1668). Additionally, the post-conviction relief court found appellate counsel reasoned why he did not seek the petition and that even if appellate counsel had not provided a reason, "that precedent in South

Carolina precludes [Petitioner's] claim and it fails as a matter of law." (App. p. 1668). These rulings are supported by the record and are legally correct.

In Petitioner's request for relief, he seeks clarification from this Court as to "whether appellate counsel has a *duty to consult* a defendant about whether he wishes to seek discretionary review, and if the lawyer and defendant disagree, whether appellate counsel has a *duty to advise* the defendant that he may seek discretionary review *pro se*." (PWC pp. 8–9). However, in a split decision, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in Folkes held the following:

". . . because the Constitution imposes no duty on counsel to file a discretionary appeal—regardless of whether one is requested—analyzing that claim never implicates 'antecedent' questions concerning consultation between counsel and the client. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. at 478, 120 S.Ct. 1029. Accordingly, when a petitioner raises an IAC claim based on failure to file for a subsequent, discretionary appeal, that is the extent of the claim presented and the sole basis upon which habeas relief could be granted. In short, Wainwright—not Flores-Ortega or Gordon—answers the question of whether the claim raised in Folkes' § 2254 petition encompasses anything beyond a duty-to-file claim. And it answers the question with a clear 'no.' "

Folkes v. Nelsen, 34 F.4th 258, 277 (4th Cir. 2022).¹ As Petitioner readily concedes, the Folkes court has provided the guidance he now seeks. (PWC p. 9, fn 3).

Furthermore, this Court has previously provided the guidance Petitioner seeks in Douglas v. State, *supra*. In Douglas, this Court held the following:

We decline to impose a duty on appellate counsel to pursue rehearing and/or certiorari following the decision of the Court of Appeals in a criminal direct appeal. The imposition of such a duty would conflict with this Court's explanation in In re Exhaustion of State Remedies in Criminal and Post-Conviction Relief Cases, 321 S.C. 563, 471 S.E.2d 454 (1990), that the Court of Appeals was created to reduce

¹ Petitioner highlights that this Court granted Folkes' petition for a common law writ of certiorari to consider whether 1) Folkes' conviction should be vacated because he was abandoned by appellate counsel at a critical stage, and 2) the trial court's ABHAN instruction was erroneous. While any reliance by Petitioner that this Court's decision to take up Folkes' petition for a common law writ is misguided and not applicable to Petitioner's case, nevertheless, following briefing and oral argument, this Court denied Folkes relief by unpublished memorandum opinion. Folkes v. Williams, Op. No. 2024-MO-021 (S.C. filed October 2, 2024).

the State's appellate backlog. A holding that certiorari must be sought whenever requested would increase this Court's workload by increasing the number of criminal writs of certiorari to the Court of Appeals. This Court "reviews [Court of Appeals] decisions by writ of certiorari only where special reasons justify exercise of that power." *Id.* We find that *the decision whether to pursue certiorari is a matter left solely to the appellant's attorney's professional discretion.*

Douglas, 369 S.C. at 215–216, 631 S.E.2d at 543 (emphasis added). Simply put, appellate attorneys have no duty, even when requested by clients, to pursue discretionary review, and there is no constitutional right to discretionary review.

Essentially, in Petitioner's request for relief, Petitioner not only asks this Court to recognize the constitutional right to counsel beyond the first right of appeal, but Petitioner also requests that this Court establish standards by which a reviewing court can assess the effectiveness of counsel in their representation. Petitioner's request directly conflicts with Strickland, where the Strickland Court held that "specific guidelines are not appropriate" and "[t]he availability of intrusive post-trial inquiry into attorney performance or of detailed guidelines for its evaluation would encourage the proliferation of ineffectiveness challenges." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688–690; cf. State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 41, 813 S.E.2d 502, 510 (2018) ("[T]his Court does not have the power to adopt new rules of procedure for future trials by writing opinions to decide cases . . ." and "the South Carolina Constitution limits this Court's power to promulgate rules governing practice and procedure in the courts of this State.").

Based on the foregoing, appellate attorneys cannot be ineffective beyond the first right of appeal—meaning there is no constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel beyond the issuance of the opinion by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. In the instant case, Petitioner received his constitutionally protected right of first appeal with the full assistance of counsel. Petitioner was not entitled to the effective assistance of counsel beyond the issuance of the opinion by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Petitioner's claims have been fully and fairly examined

by the post-conviction relief court, and its findings on the issue before this Court are supported by the record and the law. Therefore, certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION